

230-RICR-20-30-15

TITLE 230 - DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATIONS

CHAPTER 20 - INSURANCE

SUBCHAPTER 30 - HEALTH INSURANCE

PART 15 - FILING AND REVIEW OF HEALTH INSURANCE PLAN FORMS AND RATES

15.1 Authority

_____ This ~~regulation-Part~~ is promulgated pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws §§ 42-14.5-1 *et seq.*, 42-14-5, 42-14-17, 27-18-8, 27-18-8.4, 27-19-6, 27-20-6, 27-41-29.2, and 42.62-12(b)(4).

15.2 Purpose and Scope

A. The purpose of this ~~Regulation-Part~~ is:

1. To establish procedures for the filing of health insurance plan rates, rating, formulas, rating manuals, and forms with the Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner by health insurance issuers;
2. To establish standards for the approval or disapproval of health insurance plan forms; and
3. To establish standards for the approval, disapproval or modification of health insurance plan rates, rating formulas, and rating manuals.

B. In the case of any conflict between the provisions of this ~~Regulation-Part~~ relating to the filing, review, approval, or disapproval of rates, rating formulas, rating manuals, and health insurance plan forms, and the provisions of any other Regulation of the Office, the provisions of this Regulation shall control and apply. ~~The provisions of this Regulation are intended to supersede Part XI of Regulation 23, adopted by OHIC Regulation 1, entitled "Filing of Forms and Rates."~~

15.3 Definitions

A. As used in this regulation:

1. "Actuarial value" means the level of coverage provided by an issuer of a health insurance plan's benefits, as further defined in 42 U.S.C. § 18022(d) and regulations adopted thereunder.
2. "Commissioner" means the Commissioner of the Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner.
3. "Essential health benefits" means health insurance plan coverage of the benefits required by 42 U.S.C § 18022(b), including if applicable any benchmark plan designated by the Commissioner on behalf of the Governor;
4. "Exchange" means the Rhode Island Health Benefits Exchange established by Executive Order No. 11-09, issued on September 19, 2011.
5. "Health insurance issuer" means any entity subject to the insurance laws and regulations of this state, or subject to the jurisdiction of the Commissioner, that contracts or offers to contract to provide, deliver, arrange for, pay for, or reimburse any of the costs of health care services, including, without limitation, an insurance company offering accident and sickness insurance, a health maintenance organization licensed under R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-41, a non-profit hospital service corporation organized under R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-19, a non-profit medical service corporation organized under R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-20, a non-profit dental service corporation organized under R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-20.1, a non-profit optometric service corporation organized under R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-20.2, a domestic insurance company subject to R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-1 that offers or provides health insurance coverage in the state, and a foreign insurance company subject to R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 27-2 that offers or provides health insurance coverage in the state.
6. "Health insurance plan" means:
 - a. A policy, contract, certificate or other evidence of agreement to provide "health insurance coverage," as defined in R.I. Gen. Laws §§ 27-18.5-2(8) and 27-18.6-2(15), or to provide a "health benefit plan," as defined in R.I. Gen. Laws § 27-50-3(t), including but not limited to an individual health insurance plan, a small group health insurance plan, a large group market health insurance plan, a plan of Medicare Supplemental insurance, and a plan of dental insurance. The term shall include a qualified health plan offered on the Exchange, and a qualified health plan offered on the Exchange by the Small Business Health Options Program. The terms

"individual health insurance plan", and "small group health insurance plan" do not include a Medicare Supplement insurance plan or a dental insurance plan.

- b. The term shall include a health insurance plan in which the certificate or other evidence of coverage is offered, issued, delivered or renewed to an individual resident in this state, or to the employees or members and their dependents of a small group or employer located in this state where the health insurance plan is issued or delivered outside of this state, and the plan offers or provides such coverage through a trust association or other intermediary.
- 7. "Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner" or "Office" means the agency established pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-14.5-1 *et seq.*
- 8. "Qualified health plan" means a health insurance plan that has been approved by the Office, certified by the Exchange, and with respect to which the Issuer has been licensed by the Office and certified by the Exchange, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. Chapter 157, Subchapter III (§§ 18021 through 18063) and regulations adopted thereunder.
- 9. "Risk adjustment and reinsurance" means the programs authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 18061 *et seq.*
- 10. "SERFF" means the System for Electronic Rate and Form Filing administered under the auspices of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
- 11. "Small Business Health Option Program" or "SHOP" means the program authorized by 42 U.S.C § 18031(b)(1)(B).

15.4 Filing of Health Insurance Plan Forms

- A. No health insurance plan shall be offered, issued, delivered or renewed to any person or entity in this state, nor shall a certificate or other evidence of coverage of a health insurance plan defined in § 15.3(A)(6)(b) of this Part ~~Section 3(6)(B)~~ be offered, issued, delivered or renewed unless all forms used in connection with the health insurance plan, including but not limited to any application, rider, endorsement, certificate of coverage, policy, subscriber contract, or group master contract, have been filed in a complete manner with the Office, and the filing has been approved by the Commissioner.

- 21. Individual and small group market plans (including Qualified Health Plans sold on the Exchange) proposed to be effective between January 1, ~~2014~~

and December 31, ~~2014~~ of each calendar year shall be filed with the Commissioner on ~~or before April 15, 2013,~~ the date set annually by the Commissioner unless a waiver of such filing deadline is approved by the Commissioner. ~~A preliminary filing shall be made on or before March 31, 2013 of the provisions of such plans relating to benefits, services, and benefit/service exclusions (not including provisions or data relating to cost sharing, actuarial value calculations, rate factors, or premiums).~~

~~32.~~ The Commissioner shall notify the Issuer when the filing is deemed complete. Nothing in ~~this subdivision (3)~~ § 15.4(A)(2) of this Part is intended to limit the obligation of Issuers to provide information relating to the filing requested by the Commissioner after the filing is deemed complete.

B. The prior approval required by § 15.4(A) of this Part shall not apply to the following forms: summaries of benefits and coverage, advertisements other than those used in connection with a Medicare supplemental health insurance plan, and marketing and marketing training materials.

1. A health insurance issuer shall maintain for five (5) years all records of the forms and materials not required to be filed under this § 15.4(B) of this Part ~~subsection (b)~~. Upon notice of the Commissioner, the health insurance plan issuer shall file with the Commissioner, within the time prescribed in the notice, any form, summary of benefits and coverage, advertisement, marketing training and other marketing materials, and any other related materials used by the health insurance issuer in connection with any health insurance plan. An issuer's obligations under § 15.4(B) of this Part ~~this subsection~~ are in addition to the issuer's obligations under Part 20-60-4 of this Title, Department of Business Regulation 67, ~~adopted as OHIC Regulation 1,~~ and any other applicable records retention laws and regulations.

C. The Commissioner may delegate to an employee or official of the Office his or her authority to receive, approve or disapprove forms and related materials filed under § 15.4 of this Part ~~this section~~.

D. The Commissioner may authorize the use of filing instructions prescribing or verifying the content of health insurance plan forms, and verifying the issuer's compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to the use of such health insurance plan forms. A health insurance plan filing is not made in a complete manner unless it is filed by means of SERFF, and unless it is filed in accordance with the Commissioner's filing instructions.

E. The Commissioner's filing instructions with respect to health insurance plans may include:

1. The completion of a Checklist of requirements for the content of health insurance plans; and
2. Sworn verification of a Compliance Attestation demonstrating the Issuer's compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to the use of such health insurance plan forms.
3. The Checklist and the Compliance Attestation for individual and small group health insurance plans may relate to the following matters:
 - a. Coverage of essential health benefits in connection with an individual or small group health insurance plan, including a qualified health plan.
 - b. Cost sharing requirements in connection with an individual or small group health insurance plan, including a qualified health plan.
 - c. Coverage required by federal or state laws and regulations.
 - d. Designation of actuarial values, expressed in terms of "metallic color", in connection with individual and small group health insurance plans, including qualified health plans.
 - e. Consumer disclosure of benefits, coverage and cost-sharing, claims payment policies and procedures, and standards and procedures relating to utilization review, grievances, internal appeals, and external appeals, termination of enrollment, notice of termination, nonpayment of premium, notice of nonpayment of premium, and grace periods for nonpayment of premium, in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations.
 - f. Accreditation of one or more of an issuer's product lines. The term "product line" means the benefit design category of a set of health benefit plans, including but not limited to a Point of Service product line, a Preferred Provider Organization product line, and a Health Maintenance Organization plan product line.
 - g. Compliance of the health insurance issuer, including issuers of qualified health plans, with federal laws and regulations relating to network adequacy and provider directories.

- h. Compliance with state laws and standards relating to network adequacy, ~~as set forth in the letter from Director Michael Fine, MD, to Commissioner Koller and Director Ferguson dated January 11, 2013.~~
- i. Compliance with federal and state laws and regulations, ~~(including Department of Health regulations)~~ relating to benefit determination, utilization review, grievances, internal appeals, and external appeals.
- j. Compliance with federal laws and regulations relating to the summary of benefits and coverage applicable to the health insurance plan, including a qualified health plan.
- k. Compliance with federal requirements concerning non-discrimination of plan offerings in all locations of the state.
- l. Compliance with federal and state laws and regulations relating to an issuer's obligations to subscribers and insureds with respect to termination of enrollment, notice of termination, nonpayment of premium, notice of nonpayment of premium, and grace periods for nonpayment of premium.
- m. Compliance with federal requirements relating to non-discrimination, as provided for in 45 CFR § 156.200(e).
- n. In connection with qualified health plans only:
 - (1) Compliance with federal requirements with respect to the offerings of a minimum number of actuarial values tiered qualified health plans, and the offering of child-only qualified health plans.
 - (2) Compliance with federal requirements relating to individual and SHOP enrollment, enrollment notification, and enrollment periods.
 - (3) Compliance with qualified health plan certification requirements to be issued and revised from time to time by the Exchange in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations, including 45 C.F.R. §§ 155.1000 *et seq.* and 45 C.F.R. §§ 156.200 *et seq.*, unless the Commissioner determines that the certification requirement has not been included in the Commissioner's authorized filing instructions

because the requirement is contrary to federal or state laws and regulations, or is contrary to the public interest.

- o. Any other matter necessary or desirable for the Commissioners to determine whether the filing satisfies the standard of approval established by law of regulation.
- F. The Commissioner's filing instructions applicable to the content of qualified health plans shall include all relevant qualified health plan certification standards to be issued and revised from time to time by the Exchange in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations, including 45 C.F.R. §§ 155.1000 *et seq.* and 45 C.F.R. §§ 156.200 *et seq.*, unless the Commissioner determines that the certification requirement is contrary to federal or state laws and regulations, or is contrary to the public interest. The Commissioner shall also solicit and consider the recommendations of the Exchange in connection with the authorization of filing instructions applicable to the content of qualified health plan forms. The Office shall notify the Exchange upon the filing of a qualified health plan form with the Office and upon request of the Exchange shall promptly transmit any such filed qualified health plan form to the Exchange. At the request of the Exchange, the Office shall consider the comments of the Exchange with respect to the approval or disapproval of the qualified health plan form. The Office shall promptly transmit to the Exchange each qualified health plan form approved by the Office, together with data filed by the issuer in connection with the qualified health plan form. The Commissioner's approval of a qualified health plan form shall constitute approval of the content of the qualified health plan form, but shall not constitute certification on behalf of the Exchange with respect to any other aspect of the plan.
- G. The issuers' Checklist and Compliance Attestation shall be incorporated by reference into the insurance plan form, for purposes of R.I. Gen. Laws §§ 27-18-8, 27-19-7.2, 27-20-6.2, and 27-41-29.2.
- ~~H. A form filed in a complete manner shall be deemed approved unless disapproved by the Commissioner within sixty (60) days of the filing of the form in a complete manner. This subsection shall not apply to preliminary forms filed in accordance with subdivision (a)(2) of this Section 4 on or before March 1, 2013.~~
- H. A health insurance plan form shall not be approved if the Commissioner determines that it is contrary to the public interest, or contrary to the requirements of the laws and regulations applicable to the health insurance plan form, including the requirements of this Regulation. At a minimum, a form shall be considered contrary to the public interest if it fails to comply with the Commissioner's authorized filing instructions, or if the issuer fails to properly

complete an applicable Checklist, or fails to file an applicable Compliance Attestation.

JL. In connection with the Commissioner's approval of a health insurance plan form, the Commissioner may attach such conditions as the Commissioner determines are necessary for the plan to be consistent with the public interest, and consistent with the requirements of the laws and regulations applicable to the health insurance plan form. Such conditions may establish issuer obligations relating to:

1. Issuer compliance with laws and regulations relating to marketing standards of conduct, and with requirements relating to marketing training and materials;
2. Issuer compliance with state laws and regulations ~~(including Department of Health regulations)~~ relating to the certification of health plans;
3. Issuer compliance with federal and state laws and regulations ~~(including Department of Health regulations)~~ relating to benefit determination, utilization review, grievances, internal appeals, and external appeals;
4. Issuer compliance with federal requirements with respect to discrimination against individuals with significant health needs; and
5. Any other necessary and proper issuer obligation.

KJ. A health insurance issuer may appeal the final decision of the Commissioner in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-35-15.

15.5 Filing of Health Insurance Plan Rates, Rating Formulas, and Rate Manuals - General

A. No health insurance plan shall be offered, issued, delivered or renewed to any person or entity in this state unless the rates, the rating formula, and the rate manual used in connection with the plan have been filed in a complete manner with the Office, and the filing has been approved by the Commissioner, or approved as modified by the Commissioner; provided that with respect to small group health insurance plans, issuers shall comply with the filing and maintenance of records requirements of R.I. Gen. Laws § 27-50-5(h).

1. Rates, rate factors, premiums, rating formulas and rate manuals for individual and small group market plans (including qualified health plans sold on the Exchange) proposed to be effective between January 1, ~~2014~~ and December 31 of each calendar year, 2014 shall be filed with the Commissioner on ~~or before April 15 2013~~ the date set annually by the

Commissioner, unless a waiver of such filing deadline is approved by the Commissioner. Rate factors for large group market plans proposed to be effective between January 1, ~~2014~~ and December 31 of each calendar year, 2014 shall be filed with the Commissioner on ~~May 15, 2013~~ the date set annually by the Commissioner.

2. A nonprofit health insurance issuer filing rates, rate factors, premiums, rating formulas or rate manuals with respect to health insurance plans in the individual market, and in the Medicare supplemental insurance market shall provide a copy of such filings to the Insurance Advocacy Unit of the Attorney General's Office, in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws §§ 27-19-6(b) and 27-20-6(b).
 3. The Commissioner shall notify the Issuer when the filing is deemed complete. Nothing in § 15.5(A)(3) of this Part ~~this subdivision (3)~~ is intended to limit the obligation of Issuers to provide information relating to the filing requested by the Commissioner after the filing is deemed complete.
- B. The Commissioner may delegate to an employee or official of the Office his or her authority to receive, approve, disapprove, or approve as modified rates, rating formulas, and rate manuals filed under § 15.5 of this Part ~~this section~~.
- C. A health insurance rate, rating formula, or rate manual filing is not made in a complete manner unless it is filed by means of SERFF, and unless it is filed in accordance with filing instructions authorized by the Commissioner.
- D. The Commissioner may authorize the use of filing instructions prescribing the content of a health insurance rate filing, rating formula filing, or rate manual filing and requiring the filing of evidence of the issuer's compliance with its obligations relating to the matters identified in ~~subdivisions (e)(1) through (9) of this section~~ § 15.5(E)(1) through (9) of this Part.
- E. Such filing instructions may include content requirements and evidence of compliance with issuer obligations relating to:
1. Actuarial statements and analysis;
 2. The rate schedule, rating formula, or rate manual;
 3. The benefits, coverages, limitations and exclusions to which the rates, rating formula, or rate manual shall apply;

4. Proposed premiums for health insurance plans in the individual and small group markets, including individual and SHOP qualified health plans offered on the Exchange;
 5. Issuer participation in any risk adjustment program or a reinsurance program administered in connection with health insurance plans;
 6. Compliance with federal and state rating and underwriting requirements, and with the prohibition on variability of rates by geographical area;
 7. The issuer's allocation of medical loss ratio rebate amounts, if applicable, together with any medical loss ratio and rebate calculations, and any other medical loss ratio and rebate information reported to the U.S. Secretary of Health and Human Services during the previous 12 months;
 8. In connection with qualified health plans only:
 - a. Issuer compliance with the segregated accounting of premium allocations for abortion services;
 - b. Issuer compliance with federal rate year requirements;
 - c. Uniform plan pricing requirements for plans offered inside and outside the Exchange;
 - d. issuer compliance with qualified health plan certification requirements to be issued and revised from time to time by the Exchange in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations, including 45 C.F.R. §§ 155.1000 *et seq.* and 45 C.F.R. §§ 156.200 *et seq.*, unless the Commissioner determines that the certification requirement has not been included in the Commissioner's authorized filing instructions because the requirement is contrary to federal or state laws and regulations, or is contrary to the public interest; and
 9. Any other necessary or desirable content requirement or evidence of compliance.
- F. The Commissioner's filing instructions applicable to the content of qualified health plan rates, rating formulas, and rate manuals shall include all relevant qualified health plan certification standards to be issued and revised from time to time by the Exchange in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations, including 45 C.F.R. § 155.1000 *et seq.* and 45 C.F.R. § 156.200 *et seq.*, unless the Commissioner determines that the certification requirement is contrary to federal or state laws and regulations, or is contrary to the public interest. The

Commissioner shall solicit and consider the recommendations of the Exchange in connection with the authorization of filing instructions applicable to qualified health plan rates, rating formulas, and rate manuals. The Office shall notify the Exchange upon the filing of a qualified health plan rate with the Office and upon request of the Exchange shall promptly transmit any such filed qualified health plan rate filing to the Exchange. At the request of the Exchange, the Office shall consider the comments of the Exchange with respect to the approval or disapproval of the qualified health plan rate filing. The Office shall promptly transmit to the Exchange the approved rate of a qualified health plan, together with data concerning the rate filed by the issuer. The Commissioner's approval of a qualified health plan rate or premium shall constitute approval of the rate and premium for a qualified health plan, but shall not constitute certification on behalf of the Exchange with respect to any other aspect of the plan.

15.6 Filing of Health Insurance Plan Rates – Annual, All Market Filing in the Individual, Small Group, and Large Group Markets

- A. The requirements of ~~this Section~~ § 15.6 of this Part shall apply to comprehensive hospital and medical health insurance plan rate filings in the individual, small group, and large group markets, in addition to the requirements of ~~Section 5~~ § 15.5 of this Part.
- B. On the date prescribed by the Commissioner, after at least 30 days' notice to affected health insurance issuers, each health insurance issuer doing business in this state with at least one percent of the covered lives in the insured market during the prior calendar year shall file its proposed rates for health insurance plans offered, issued or renewed during the succeeding calendar year for the individual, small group, and large group markets, including rates for individual and SHOP qualified health plans offered or proposed to be offered on the Exchange.
- C. In addition to the filing instructions authorized by the Commissioner under §15.5(E) of this Part, the Commissioner's instructions for the annual, all market rate filing may require:
 - 1. A rate factor template completed on the form prescribed by the Commissioner;
 - 2. Evidence of compliance with the affordability standards adopted by the Commissioner, in a manner prescribed by the Commissioner; and
 - 3. Such other instructions as the Commissioner determines are necessary or desirable to review the rate filing in accordance with statutory and regulatory standards.

- D. The annual, all market rate filing provided for in §15.6 of this Part ~~this section~~ shall not be considered complete until the health insurance issuer has responded to all additional requests by the Office for clarification of the filing, and the Office has notified the issuer that the filing is complete.

15.7 Commissioner's Review and Decision - Rates, Rating Formulas, and Rate Manuals

- A. The provisions of ~~this Section~~ § 15.7 of this Part apply to rates, rating formulas, and rate manuals filed under §§ 15.5 and 15.6 of this Part ~~Sections 5 and 6~~.
- B. The Commissioner shall review the rate, rating formula, or rate manual filing and approve the filing, propose to the health insurance issuer how the filing can be amended and approved, notice an administrative hearing, or take such other actions separately or in combination as the Commissioner deems appropriate and as authorized by law.
 - 1. If the Commissioner proposes amendments to the filing, the health insurance issuer shall be provided with an opportunity to amend its filing in conformity with the proposed amendments. If the health insurance issuer amends its filing in conformity with the proposed amendments, the Commissioner shall approve the filing.
 - 2. If the health insurance issuer does not amend its filing within the time period prescribed by the Commissioner, the Commissioner shall notice an administrative hearing on the filing.
 - 3. Notwithstanding the foregoing, after the Commissioner has determined a filing to be complete in connection with an individual health insurance plan rate, rating formula, or rate manual filing of a hospital or medical services corporation, including a rate, rating formula, or rate manual of a hospital or medical services corporation filed in connection with a qualified health plan, the Commissioner shall conduct an administrative hearing.
- C. Administrative hearings shall be conducted in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 42-35, R.I. Gen. Laws §§ 27-19-6, 27-20-6, 42-62-13, and any orders as to the conduct of the hearing issued by the Commissioner, or the Commissioner's designee.
- D. The Commissioner may approve, disapprove, or modify the rates, rating formula, or rating manual filed by the Issuer. A health insurance rate, rating formula, or rate manual shall not be approved unless the Commissioner determines that the health insurance issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Commissioner that it is consistent with the proper conduct of the business of the

issuer, and consistent with the interests of the public. A health insurance rate, rating formula, or rate manual shall not be considered consistent with the proper conduct of the business of the issuer, and consistent with the interests of the public unless it is also consistent with the legislative purposes of the Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner under R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-14.5-2, and any regulations adopted by the Commissioner to carry out such legislative purposes. A rate, rating formula, or rate manual also shall not be considered to be consistent with the public interest if it fails to comply with the Commissioner's filing instructions.

- E. In connection with the Commissioner's approval of a health insurance plan rate, rating formula or rate manual, the Commissioner may attach to the decision such conditions as the Commissioner determines are necessary for the rate, rating formula, or rate manual to be consistent with the proper conduct of the issuer's business, consistent with the public interest, and consistent with the requirements of the laws and regulations applicable to health insurance rates, rating formulas, and rate manuals. Such conditions may include issues obligations relating to:
1. Affordability standards adopted by the Commissioner, including hospital contracting conditions adopted by the Commissioner;
 2. Issuer participation in a risk adjustment program or a reinsurance program administered by the Office in connection with health insurance plans;
 3. In connection with qualified health plans, compliance with the federal requirement concerning non-variability of premiums by geographic area; and
 4. Any other necessary and proper condition.
- F. A health insurance issuer may appeal the final decision of the Commissioner in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-35-15.

15.8 Severability

If any section, term, or provision of this Regulation-Part is adjudged invalid for any reason, that judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate any remaining section, term, or provision, which shall remain in full force and effect.

15.9 Construction

- A. This Regulation-Part shall be liberally construed to give full effect to the purposes stated in R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-14.5-2.

- | B. This ~~Regulation-Part~~ shall not be construed to limit the powers granted the Commissioner by other provisions of law or regulation.
- | C. This ~~regulation-Part~~ shall not be construed to limit the powers of the Exchange to grant, withhold, revoke, or reinstate final certification of qualified health plans in its discretion in accordance with 45 C.F.R. § 155.1000 *et seq.*, and subject to the provisions of ~~§§ 15.4(F) and 15.5(F) of this Part-Section 4(f) and Section 5(f) of this Regulation.~~